RECEIVED

Sep 06 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000160

The State,Respondent,

v.

Johnathan Olin Batchelor,Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

E. Charles Grose, Jr.
S.C. Bar Number 66063
The Grose Law Firm, LLC
404 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
(864) 538-4466
(864) 538-4405 (fax)
Email: charles@groselawfirm.com

*Attorney for Appellant Johnathan Olin
Batchelor*

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Question I

Did the trial judge err as a matter of law by denying Johnathan Batchelor’s motion to dismiss when the law enforcement destroyed the physical evidence in the case without providing Mr. Batchelor with his due process opportunity to independently examine two projectiles to establish that two weapons were used in the assault on his wife, thereby contradicting the State’s theory of the case and establishing his actual innocence?

Question II

Did the trial court err by failing to exclude the testimony of Dustin Tiller, a jailhouse informant, serving a federal court sentence for conspiracy to traffic methamphetamine, when the trial judge operated under the mistaken impression that the court lacked the authority to evaluate the reliability of the informant’s testimony?

Question III

Did the trial court err by limiting Johnathan Batchelor’s cross-examination of Dustin Tiller—in violation of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution—by prohibiting Mr. Batchelor from questioning Mr. Tiller about his conversation with his plea counsel after waiving the attorney-client privilege by testifying about those conversations, prohibiting Mr. Batchelor from questioning Mr. Tiller about the Solicitor speaking in favor of Mr. Tiller at his federal court sentencing hearing, and limiting Mr. Batchelor’s questioning of Mr. Tiller regarding the twenty-month reduction in his federal that he already received for his cooperation in Mr. Batchelor’s prosecution?

Question IV

Did the trial court err as a matter of law by ordering a uniformed deputy, wearing body armor, and visibly carrying two sets of handcuffs, to escort Johnathan Batchelor to the witness stand, stand next to Mr. Batchelor during his testimony, and escort Mr. Batchelor back to the defense table, without conducting a hearing required by the Fourteenth Amendment to determine whether these unusual and enhanced security measures were necessary under the specific circumstances of this case and specific characteristics of Mr. Batchelor?

Question V

Did the trial judge err as a matter of law by not limiting the State’s presentation of evidence about Johnathan Batchelor’s extra-material affair with Sydney Allen, when the probative value of this excessive amount of cumulative evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confused the issues, mislead the jurors and created an unfair risk that the jurors would decide the case based on evidence other than proof of the elements of the crime?

Question VI

Did the trial judge err as a matter of law by not excluding photographs (State's Exhibits No. 31 and 38) that included the image of confederate flags when the probative value of the confederate flags was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to Johnathan Batchelor?

Question VII

Did the trial court err—contrary to Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution, Article I, Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution, and S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1020—by not asking Johnathon Batchelor's request for voir dire numbers four and six inquiring whether there was anything about evidence of serious bodily injuries or hearing profanity that might cause the jurors not to be fair and impartial, when, as anticipated prior to trial, the jurors heard received evidence about serious bodily injuries and profanity?

Question VIII

Did the trial court err—in violation of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, Article I, Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution, and statutory law, by not ordering disclosure of counseling records of Stephanie Batchelor when Johnathan Batchelor moved for disclosure of these records in order to be able to confront and cross-examine Ms. Batchelor?

Question IX

Did the trial court err by imposing a sentence of thirty years imprisonment, which is the maximum sentence allowed for attempted murder, when both the Solicitor and the Court of General Sessions previously agreed that a sentence of eighteen years in the Department of Corrections was sufficient, when the sentence imposed following trial punished Johnathan Batchelor for exercising his rights to seek post-conviction relief and a jury trial?

STATEMENT OF CASE

For an incident occurring on January 7, 2016, the State charged Johnathan Batchelor with attempted murder of his wife Stephanie Nicole Batchelor. On January 5, 2018, Mr. Batchelor pled guilty, pursuant to *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25 (1970), before the Honorable J. Derham Cole. Jennifer E. Wells represented the State. Travis A. Moore represented Mr. Batchelor. Judge Cole sentenced Mr. Batchelor to thirty years

imprisonment, suspended on the service of eighteen years, followed by probation for five years. R. 144-70.

On December 13, 2018, Mr. Batchelor filed an application for post-conviction relief (“PCR”) alleging his trial “counsel was ineffective on an array of issues in the case,” including failing “to fully investigate,” failing to “challenge or limit any of the [State’s] alleged evidence, failing to “build any type of defense,” and recommending Mr. Batchelor accept an illegal sentence. R. 3-21. On March 29, 2019, the State filed its return and consent to post-conviction relief. R. 22-29. On April 18, 2019, the Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie granted Mr. Batchelor “post-conviction relief on the grounds that the sentenced [sic] imposed is illegal under S.C. Code Ann § 16-3-29 and *State v. Johnson*, 343 S.C. 693, 541 S.E.2d 855 (2001). R. 1-2.

After the grant of post-conviction relief, Mr. Batchelor proceeded to trial before the Honorable Keith R. Kelley and a jury. Ms. Wells represented State, and undersigned counsel represented Mr. Batchelor. Jury selection occurred on October 25, 2021 (R. 194-222), the trial judge heard pre-trial motions on October 29, 2021 (R. 224-98), and the trial lasted from November 1 to 4, 2021 (R. 299-783). The jurors convicted Mr. Batchelor of attempted murder (R. 772), and Judge Kelley imposed a sentence of imprisonment for thirty years. R. 780.

On November 13, 2021, Mr. Batchelor moved for a new trial and, in the alternative, for the trial judge to reconsider the sentence. R. 127-42. The trial judge convened hearings on December 8, 2021 (R. 865-84) and February 3, 2022 (R. 885-91) The trial judge denied the post-trial motions on February 3, 2022 but did not issue a written order. R. 886-89. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Johnathan and Stephanie met in 2010 and married on September 21, 2012. In January 2016, Johnathan Batchelor was a mechanic at Spartanburg Dodge. He worked from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. His wife, Stephanie Nicole Batchelor,¹ worked at Kay Jewelers in the Westgate Mall as a floor salesperson. She worked from 4:00 or 5:00 p.m. to 9:00 or 9:30 p.m. She normally followed a co-worker to the bank to make the bank deposit before returning home around 9:30 or 9:45 p.m. They lived in a house they purchased together with their two sons, ages one and three. They used various strategies for daycare for their children. Johnathon fed the children around 6:00 or 7:00 p.m. and put them to bed around 8:30 p.m. After putting the children to bed, Johnathon would watch TV or “play on the play station.” After Stephanie got home, it was not unusual for Johnathan to go to the 7-11 convenience store to get a snack or rent a movie from the Redbox. They usually went to bed around 11:30 p.m. or midnight. R. 364-65, 387-89, 656-61.

On January 7, 2016, Johnathan woke up at 7:00 a.m., got to work at 8:00 a.m., and left work at 4:30 p.m. Johnathan went straight home because Stephanie was keeping their two sons and his sister’s son. Stephanie had to be at work at 5:00 p.m. Johnathan’s sister picked up her son at 5:30 p.m. Johnathan put his sons to bed at 8:30 p.m. At 9:23 p.m., Stephanie called Johnathan, and they talked for thirteen minutes while Stephanie drove home. When Stephanie was about to pull into the driveway, Johnathan started taking a shower. Johnathan normally takes a thirty-to-forty-five-minute shower, using hot water,

¹ Johnathan and Stephanie met in 2010 and married on September 21, 2021. R. 364, 658.

because he has a bad back and a bad knee from years of “manual labor and improper lifting.” “The hot water helps soothe the pain.” R. 661-64.

When Johnathan got out of the shower, he did not see Stephanie in the house. He went to the back door, where the kitchen is located, and did not see Stephanie’s car in the garage. Johnathan opened the door and saw blood on the ramp leading to the door. Johnathan heard Stephanie calling his name. Johnathan ran to her and called 911. Johnathan stayed on the phone for ten or eleven minutes. It took a long time for the police and EMS to arrive. After EMS arrived, Johnathan called Stephanie’s aunt to watch the children and went back into the house to get the keys to his truck to go to the hospital. Law enforcement interviewed Johnathan before he went to the hospital. R. 355, 664-66, 676-78. Defense Exhibit 1.²

Spartanburg County Deputy Kristin Malpass was the first law enforcement officer to arrive at the Batchelors’ home. She arrived within ten minutes of the 911 call. Johnathan, who appeared to be in shock, “flagged” her down and “took” her to Stephanie, who was “lying face down in the grass in the side yard,” wrapped up in a blanket. Stephanie “appeared to be very tired, very distraught, and at some points annoyed.” Stephanie identified herself, provided her date of birth, engaged in “a little bit of conversation,” and reported she felt like she was shot. Stephanie repeatedly told Deputy Malpass she did not know what happened to her.³ After EMS took Stephanie to the hospital, Deputy Malpass

² Defense Exhibit 1 is a USB drive containing the audiotape of the 911 call and a portion of the videotape from Deputy Malpass’ body worn camera. The State objected to Mr. Batchelor presenting this evidence, but the trial judge overruled the objections. R. 666-75.

³ Stephanie acknowledged she did not identify anyone as the person who shot her. R. 378.

walked through the Batchelors' home, checked on the children, and observed the tub in the master bathroom was wet. R. 334-58; State's Exhibits 1 to 15, R. 800-11.

Spartanburg County Sheriff Office Investigator William Gary interviewed Stephanie at the hospital before she went into surgery. Stephanie was not able to tell the investigator anything about what had happened to her. R. 400-03. Investigator Gary interviewed Johnathan for thirty minutes on January 8, 2016. Johnathan gave consent for law enforcement to examine Stephanie's cellphone and informed Investigator Gary that examining the phone would show that he and Stephanie had been "arguing about her engagement ring being lost." According to Investigator Gary, during this conversation, Johnathan became a suspect. R. 422-25.

Stephanie was in a medically induced coma for a week.⁴ She woke up confused and "couldn't really talk" because of a tracheotomy. R. 379-81.

At trial, Stephanie testified differently from what she told Deputy Malpass. After getting off work at Kay Jewelers and assisting with the bank deposit, Stephanie talked to Johnathan while she drove home. She pulled into the driveway, waited for the garage door to open, and pulled into the garage. She unbuckled the seatbelt, sat for a minute listening to the radio, and reached for her pocketbook and cellphone. Stephanie claimed Johnathan "flung open" the car door and "pulled" her out of the car. She walked up the ramp that leads to the door. She claimed Johnathan hit her "over and over" with a long orange baseball bat. She claimed Johnathan dragged her "face up" by her feet "out of the garage to the side of the house." She claimed Johnathan disappeared, "reappeared at her feet," and

⁴ Dr. Brian Thurston testified about Stephanie Batchelor's injuries and treatment. R. 616-32.

shot her. Her memory is “kind of fuzzy,” but Stephanie recalls hearing Johnathan direct the first responders to their house and Deputy Malpass talking to her. R. 369-70, 374-81.

On cross-examination, Stephanie acknowledged talking to law enforcement several times. Stephanie recalled talking to Deputy Malpass, understanding her questions, and telling the first responder that she did not know what happened to her. Stephanie claimed not to recall the conversation with law enforcement on January 18, 2016, when she told law enforcement that Johnathan was not the person who attacked her, even though law enforcement believed Johnathan was the assailant.⁵ It wasn’t until January 25, 2016, that Stephanie finally claimed Johnathan attacked her. R. 389-93, 397.

The Spartanburg County Sheriff’s office processed the crime scene for evidence. They took photographs and collected evidence. Law enforcement located Stephanie’s car on the side of the road, near a bridge over the Tyger River, 1.5 miles from the Batchelors’ home. Travis Woods, a first responder with the fire department, arrived at the location of the car. The car was still running, and Mr. Woods turned off the ignition. According to Investigator Gary, it takes three minutes to drive from the house to the location of the car and driving from the house to the location of the car and walking back to the house takes twenty-five minutes, fifteen seconds. Law enforcement deployed a canine tracking team but was unable to track the perpetrator. The dive team searched the river but did not find any evidence. Law enforcement took the car to an impound lot for evidence processing. R. 404-22, 437-38, 443-46, 504-27.

⁵ Stephanie did acknowledge making inconsistent statements about whether she parked inside the garage or outside the garage on the driveway. R. 391.

During the investigation, law enforcement collected DNA samples from the steering wheel of Stephanie's car and gunshot residue swabs from Johnathan and Stephanie. Law enforcement collected two projectiles—one at the Batchelor residence and one from the pathology department at Spartanburg Regional Hospital. None of the forensic evidence pointed to Johnathan Batchelor. There was not any gunshot residue on Johnathan's hands. The DNA on the steering wheel of the Stephanie's car belonged to Stephanie and an unknown male. Both Johnathan Batchelor and Travis Woods, who turned off the ignition, were excluded as donors of this DNA evidence. R. 404-22, 446-49, 457-60.

Law enforcement also collected two projectiles. One projectile was found at the Batchelor residence "between the driveway and the garage," which was described as a .38 caliber projectile. The other projectile was recovered from Ms. Batchelor at Spartanburg Regional Hospital, which was described as a 9mm projectile. Greenville County analyzed the two projectiles. The Firearms/Tool Mark Report did not definitively identify the caliber of the bullet. Rather, the report identified each projectile as "a caliber 38/9mm fired bullet specimen." The report concluded two projectiles "bear similar but insufficient microscopic marks to permit a positive identification to each other." R. 137-38, 233-41, 415-20, 448-49, 458, 650-52.

Without any forensic evidence, the prosecution relied on an extra-material affair between Johnathan Batchelor and Sydney Allen as evidence of motive. This evidence will be discussed in Section V below. The State also relied on the jailhouse informant testimony of a convicted drug trafficker. This evidence will be discussed in detail in Sections II and III below.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, this Court sits to review errors of law only and is bound by factual findings of the trial court unless an abuse of discretion is shown.” *State v. Blackwell*, 420 S.C. 127, 136, 801 S.E.2d 713, 718 (2017) (internal citations and quotations omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the court’s decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.” *Id.*

Before a federal constitutional error can be held harmless the reviewing court must be able to declare a belief that it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18 (1967). “Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case. No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.” *State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (internal quotations omitted) (quoting *State v. Key*, 256 S.C. 90, 93, 180 S.E.2d 888, 890 (1971)). This Court does “not to question whether the State proved its case beyond a reasonable doubt, but whether beyond a reasonable doubt the trial error did not contribute to the guilty verdict.” *State v. Reyes*, 432 S.C. 394, 406, 853 S.E.2d 334, 340 (2020) (citing *State v. Tapp*, 398 S.C. 376, 389-90, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012)). In cases like this one, when “credibility” is the “most critical determination” for jurors to make in the case, the error is not harmless. *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 480, 716 S.E.2d 91, 95 (2011).

ARGUMENTS

Question I

Did the trial judge err as a matter of law by denying Johnathan Batchelor’s motion to dismiss when the law enforcement destroyed the physical evidence in the case without providing Mr. Batchelor with his due process opportunity to independently examine two projectiles to establish that two weapons were used in the assault on his wife, thereby contradicting the State’s theory of the case and establishing his actual innocence?

On June 17, 2021, Mr. Batchelor moved the trial court “for an order dismissing this case based on law enforcement’s destruction of all of the physical evidence in this case,” identifying the appropriate standard:

To establish a due process violation,^[6] a defendant must demonstrate (1) that the State destroyed the evidence in bad faith, or (2) that the evidence possessed an exculpatory value apparent before the evidence was destroyed and the defendant cannot obtain other evidence of comparable value by other means.

R. * (quoting *State v. Cheeseboro*, 346 S.C. 526, 538-39, 552 S.E.2d 300, 307 (2001)). In his pre-trial brief, Mr. Batchelor additionally called the trial court’s attention to *Arizona v. Youngblood*, 488 U.S. 51 (1988). R. 32.

On October 29, 2021, the trial court convened a hearing on the motion. After Mr. Batchelor’s *Alford* plea, there was “communication within the sheriff’s office about whether or not the evidence needed to be retained,” and “the decision was made to destroy the evidence” before the one-year statute of limitations for Mr. Batchelor to file an application for post-conviction relief.⁷ Mr. Batchelor called the trial court’s attention to

⁶ U.S. Const. Am. XIV; S.C. Const. Art. I, § 3.

⁷ “An application for relief filed pursuant to this chapter must be filed within one year after the entry of a judgment of conviction or within one year after the sending of the remittitur to the lower court from an appeal or the filing of the final decision upon an appeal, whichever is later.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-45(A).

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-320 which requires “[a] custodian of evidence must preserve all physical evidence and biological material related to the conviction or adjudication of a person for” certain offenses. Although the statute does not

specifically list attempted murder, it does list murder and several other crimes. And construing that in favor of Mr. Batchelor and against the state that evidence should have been preserved under that statute as well.

Mr. Batchelor argued he “is prejudiced” for two reasons. First, two projectiles collected for evidence were “destroyed” and he “will not be able to have those examined by an expert.” He noted that the discovery contains “speculation” and “opinions” about the evidence that he could not refute without “actually being able to examine the fragments or the projectiles.” Second, Mr. Batchelor noted his PCR application “raise[d] a number of grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel that are unadjudicated” and the “prejudice flowing from the prior representation put him in a particularly [] tough situation as far as being able to confront the evidence.” R. 226-28.

The State acknowledged “the evidence was destroyed” but argued the evidence was destroyed pursuant to an evidence retention policy and not in bad faith. The State also argued the evidence did not contain exculpatory value that could not be obtained by other means, such as through the reports generated from examination of the evidence. The State argued, “We don’t have things that are unknown.” R. 228-33.

In response, Mr. Batchelor argued any “evidence retention policy” that does not respect the “well-known statutes of limitations” for filing a PCR application and a federal petition for writ of habeas corpus “is a bad faith policy.” Trial counsel reminded the trial judge that Mr. Batchelor wants to examine the “two projectiles, one which was found in the driveway and one which was removed from Stephanie Batchelor at the hospital. Law

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