RECEIVED

Sep 06 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County
Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent,

vs.

JOHNATHAN OLIN BATCHELOR,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2022-000160

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street, Third Floor
Spartanburg, SC 29306

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court did not err in denying the motion to dismiss the case because of destroyed evidence where the evidence was not destroyed in bad faith and did not contain readily apparent exculpatory value.

Two bullet fragments were destroyed after the direct appeal time expired from Appellant's Alford plea. Without authority, Appellant argues law enforcement was required to wait until the time to file a post-conviction relief application expired, and Appellant further relies on a statute under which even a cursory reading reveals does not apply to a person convicted of attempted murder. A hospital employee apparently identified the fragment recovered from Victim's body as a 9mm. R. p. 234:16-24. The fragment from the garage was a .38. On this basis Appellant claims an ambiguity without regards to the law enforcement expert that examined both fragments recovered. The prosecutor advised the trial court that the analyst determined both fragments were .38s. R. 237:5-15. The trial court did not err because law enforcement was not required to follow the rules Appellant now makes up and law enforcement did not destroy the evidence in bad faith. Further, the trial court did not err in finding the evidence did not possess readily apparent exculpatory value.

The State does not have an absolute duty to preserve potentially useful evidence, and a defendant must demonstrate either: 1) the State destroyed evidence in bad faith; or 2) the evidence's exculpatory value was readily apparent before the evidence was destroyed, and the defendant cannot obtain other evidence of comparable value by other means. State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 520, 702 S.E.2d 395, 404 (Ct. App. 2010) (citing State v. Mabe, 306 S.C. 355, 412 S.E.2d 386 (1991)). The bad faith requirement limits the extent of the State's obligation to preserve evidence to reasonable bounds, and confines it to cases in which the police conduct indicates the evidence could form a

basis for exonerating the defendant. Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 58 (1988) (explaining its reluctance to impose “on the police an undifferentiated and absolute duty to retain and to preserve all material that might be of conceivable evidentiary significance in a particular prosecution.”); Moses, 702 S.E.2d at 403; United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 109-10 (1976) (“The mere possibility that an item of undisclosed information might have helped the defense, or might have affected the outcome of the trial, does not establish ‘materiality’ in the constitutional sense.”).

To prove law enforcement destroyed the evidence in bad faith, Appellant relies on a statute that requires the preservation of evidence following conviction for an enumerated list of offenses that does not include attempted murder. S.C. Code § 17-28-320. Nonetheless, law enforcement should have saved the evidence anyway argues Appellant. Under the canon of construction “*expressio unius est exclusio alterius*” the expression or inclusion of one thing “implies the exclusion of another, or of the alternative.” German Evangelical Lutheran Church v. City of Charleston, 352 S.C. 600, 576 S.E.2d 150 (2003) (citation omitted). “In interpreting a statute, ‘[w]ords must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute’s operation.’” State v. Gordon, 414 S.C. 94, 98, 777 S.E.2d 376, 378 (2015). Although penal statutes are strictly construed in favor of the defendant, the court must interpret the statute according to its literal meaning. State v. Jacobs, 393 S.C. 584, 587, 713 S.E.2d 621, 623 (2011). In the present case, Appellant desperately relies on a statute that does not enumerate the offense for which he was convicted. He asks this Court to include it anyway, in other words to act as a super legislature. Accordingly, Appellant failed to show that the bullets were destroyed in bad faith.

Further, Appellant failed to show the destroyed bullets carried readily apparent exculpatory value. If a defendant’s purpose is to exploit any exculpatory potential of missing evidence, to meet

the standard of constitutional materiality he must make some showing the item possessed exculpatory value that was apparent before it was lost by the State. State v. Adams, 304 S.C. 304, 403 S.E.2d 678, 680 (Ct. App. 1991). Speculation by a defendant that the evidence would be exculpatory is insufficient. Id. at 305, 403 S.E.2d at 680. In the present case, the bullets were compared and were consistent with Hornady ammunition, the ammunition found in the house. It is speculative at best that a different ballistics expert would reach a different conclusion regardless of the comments of a hospital employee on the type of bullet recovered. The trial court in its ruling noted that the ballistics report was provided to the trial court and it reviewed the report and found that Appellant failed to demonstrate the bullet fragments have any exculpatory value that was apparent before it was destroyed. R. p. 309.

II.

The trial court did not err in declining to rule on the credibility of an inmate informant and thus intrude on the jury's role in determining the credibility of witnesses.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in declining to suppress informant Tiller's testimony for no other reason than in Appellant's view his testimony was not credible. The trial court does not have a legal basis to suppress witnesses like a jailhouse informant since the credibility of a witness is for the jury to determine. The informant obviously testified with the hope of a benefit – a downward departure – but the jury was capable of giving as much or as little weight to the testimony and the jury was free to discount it altogether as with any other fact witness.

How the issue arose

At defense counsel's request, Dustin Tiller testified in camera so defense counsel could seek to suppress his testimony. At the time of trial, Tiller was serving a federal sentence at a federal penitentiary for conspiracy to traffic methamphetamine. He was represented at trial by James Bannister, Esquire. An unredacted plea agreement was introduced as Court's Exhibit 4. The plea agreement was with the federal prosecutor. Because of Tiller's prior drug offenses, he was facing life imprisonment for his original drug charges. Several charges were dismissed in exchange for substantial assistance and the federal prosecutor removed the prior offenses for enhancement purposes that allowed Tiller to be able to receive less than a life sentence. However, the sentence remained up to the federal district court judge. Tiller noted that part of the agreement included the clause that his proffer could be used against him if he lied while providing information to the government or testified. Following the federal prosecutor filing a motion for a downward departure, Tiller was sentenced to 220 months imprisonment, or eighteen years and four months. R. pp. 464-476. Tiller confirmed no promises were made to him that his testimony in the instant case would

secure a downward departure, but he agreed he was hoping for one. R. pp. 475-477.

Tiller testified he knew Appellant from the time he was at the Spartanburg Detention Center. The two were housed in separate cells, but Appellant attended the Bible study group Tiller held and later they talked after Appellant found Tiller doing legal research for his own case in the institution's law library. R. pp. 477-478. Appellant started talking about his own case and eventually, Appellant confided to Tiller that he shot his own wife because of an affair Appellant was having with a red-headed woman. R. pp. 478-480. Tiller testified Appellant told him several details, including that he threw powder on his truck to make the shooting look like a possible drug deal gone bad and that Appellant drove Victim's car to a bridge nearby to make it look like a carjacking. R. pp. 479-482.

Following Appellant's cross-examination and the prosecutor's redirect examination, Appellant's defense counsel moved to suppress Tiller's testimony based on Appellant's argument that the circumstances of the present case were inconsistent with the Innocence Project's recommendations of when to use a jailhouse informant as a witness. R. pp. 495-502.

The trial court declined to make a credibility finding as to Tiller's testimony as the trial court would be usurping the role of the jury. R. p. 502:3-18.

The trial court did not err in declining to usurp the jury's role of judging the credibility of witnesses.

Rule 601(a), SCRE, provides the general rule that, "Every person is competent to be a witness except as otherwise provided for by statute or these rules." Rule 601(b), SCRE, states, "A person is disqualified to be a witness if the court determines that (1) the proposed witness is incapable of expressing himself concerning the matter as to be understood by the judge and jury either directly or through interpretation by one who can understand him, or (2) the proposed witness is incapable of understanding the duty of a witness to tell the truth." The conduct of a criminal trial

is left largely to the sound discretion of the trial judge, who will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 312, 642 S.E.2d 582, 586 (2007); see State v. Heath, 232 S.C. 384, 391, 102 S.E.2d 268, 272 (1958) (“Necessarily the conduct of a trial is largely within the discretion of the presiding judge, to the end that a fair and impartial trial may be had.”); see also Rule 611(a), SCRE.

“Under South Carolina law, the competency of a witness is to be determined by the trial court, **whereas the credibility of a witness is exclusively for the jury to decide.**” State v. Reyes, 432 S.C. 394, 401, 853 S.E.2d 334, 338 (2020) (emphasis added) (citing State v. Pitts, 256 S.C. 420, 182 S.E.2d 738 (1971) (“We have held in a number of cases that the weight to be given to a testimony of an accomplice is for the fact finding body and if the uncorroborated evidence satisfies the jury of the defendant’s guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, an conviction is warranted.”) (citation omitted)). Appellant conflates the gatekeeping function, exclusive to determining the admissibility of expert testimony with the present case. See Rule 702, SCRE; Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 174 (2010) (The trial court must take care in its undertaking of the gatekeeper function without infringing on the jury’s duty as a factfinder, the gatekeeper role merely requires the trial court “decide whether the evidence submitted by a party is admissible pursuant to the Rules of Evidence as a matter of law.”).

Appellant also makes a meek comparison to the standard of admissibility for evidence of third party guilt. But Appellant misapprehends the function of the trial judge in this scenario. The trial judge’s role is not to determine the credibility of the proffered evidence of third party guilt, but only to determine if the evidence, taken as true, is inconsistent with the defendant’s guilt. State v. Beckham, 334 S.C. 302, 513 S.E.2d 606 (1999) (Evidence offered by a defendant of the commission of the crime by another person is limited to facts inconsistent with defendant’s guilt) *abrogated on*

other grounds by State v. Wright, 91 S.C. 436, 706 S.E.2d 324 (2011); *State v. Tony Orlando Singleton*, Op. No. 5961 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Jan. 18, 2023) (finding in a CSC with a minor case that it was proper for the trial court “in refusing to instruct the jury on third-party guilt. Singleton relies on evidence that others had sexual intercourse with Victim, but that evidence is not a fact that is inconsistent with Singleton’s guilt or raises a reasonable inference or presumption as to his innocence. Even if Singleton was not the father of Victim’s unborn child, evidence that someone else impregnated Victim would not preclude Singleton from being guilty of first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor; Singleton could have also had sexual intercourse with Victim without impregnating her. Therefore, we affirm as to this issue.”).

Appellant also makes a comparison to the common law threshold for extrinsic acts. To be admissible, the extrinsic bad act must logically relate to the crime with which the defendant has been charged. If the defendant was not convicted of the prior crime, to help establish this logical relationship, evidence of the prior bad act must be clear and convincing. *State v. Beck*, 342 S.C. 129, 135-36, 536 S.E.2d 679, 682-83 (2000); *State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E.803, 807 (1923) (“But the dangerous tendency and misleading probative force of this class of evidence require[s] that its admission should be subjected by the courts to rigid scrutiny.”). However, the direct testimony of the victim of the extrinsic evidence may clear this hurdle. *State v. Ford*, 334 S.C. 444, 453, 513 S.E.2d 385, 389 (Ct. App. 1999) (finding the clear and convincing standard was met because the victim testified from direct knowledge that the defendants robbed and attempted to rob him and his testimony was partially corroborated by a detective). In this setting, the clear and convincing standard is part of the gauge in assuring probative value of the extrinsic acts as opposed to the danger of mere propensity value of acts with questionable merit.

Appellant attempts these analogies, flawed as they are, because Appellant offers no citation

to case law holding the trial judge is tasked with determining an informant's credibility. Such a rule would cut two ways: Presumably if possible, the trial judge could also screen potential defense witnesses, such as defendant's family members, for credibility. Notably, Rule 104, SCRE, discusses resolution of preliminary questions of admissibility (Rule 104(a), SCRE) and addresses when preliminary matters should be conducted outside the hearing of the jury (Rule 104(c), SCRE), but the rule is modified by its last paragraph: "This rule does not limit the right of a party to introduce before the jury evidence relevant to weight or credibility." (Rule 104(e), SCRE).

Accordingly, the trial court did not err in declining Appellant's invitation to usurp the jury's duty to determine the credibility of witnesses.

III.

The trial court did not err in declining to allow Appellant to inquire as to the content of the informant's communications with his attorney and in declining to allow Appellant to cross-examine the informant for the downward departure in exchange for his assistance leading to Appellant's plea because it would open the door to the fact that Appellant previously pled to attempted murder.

Appellant intertwines a couple of issues in the third issue. Appellant complains Tiller's attorney-client privilege was waived when the prosecution asked if his attorney explained the plea agreement to him. Note the prosecution never asked what the attorney's advice or explanation of the agreement was. Second, Appellant complains the trial court erred in not allowing Appellant to expose that the federal prosecutor reduced the recommendation from 240 months to 220 months imprisonment for his assistance. The trial court did not allow this because this would open the door to the reason for the downward departure at that point in time which was Appellant pled to attempted murder and so it appeared the case was final. Appellant was allowed to examine Tiller on the fact that, contrary to his recollection on direct examination, the federal prosecutor changed the recommendation from 240 months to 220 months for assistance in "a case."

The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretions of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2001). The right to present a defense is not unlimited, but must "bow to accommodate other legitimate interests in the criminal trial process." Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44, 55 (1987). While defendants are entitled to a fair opportunity to present a defense, that right does not encompass the right to present any evidence regardless of its admissibility under the rules of evidence. State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 543 S.E.2d 586, 594 (Ct. App. 2001) *overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

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